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OLD DUQUESNE SCHOOL
Indestructible Laura Higby

The photograph, partially showing the old Duquesne School also
focuses attention on one of our very first teachers, the indestructible
Laura Higby. There are many firsts in our borough and a few first
teachers, but none taught as long as 48 years in fulfilling a dedicated
career. Who else reached into three generations of students? The one
and only Miss Higby retired in 1944,

OLD ONE-ROOM SCHOOLS

Old Duquesne School stood for years before the turn of the

century at Glasgow and Braddock Roads.....was first a
one-room frame on stone foundations. . ... later a second
floor was added . . .. . old pot-bellied stoves supplied the heat!

There was also a little one-room wooden portable school
with basement down in the Ardmore area which ironically was
burned down when an inadequate volunteer fire department of
those days had only a hand-drawn fire cart ... .. the fire was
fought with buckets of water before it burned to the ground!!
— (about 1920)

There were a few times in our history when our students
were sent to attend schools out of the borough. In the
beginning, they attended Hannatown in Braddock Township
and Johnston School in Wilkinsburg and others, besides our
two little one-room schools.




THEN BEGAN THE TRANSITION
and PROGRESS TO 1969

1915 Woodside Road (or) Bryn Mawr School was our first
permanent school. It was built by Wilkins Township to replace
the old Duquesne fire trap in Mucklerat. At first the Bryn
Mawr School used only three of the four rooms in the yellow
brick structure. Since it was war time, the fourth room was set
aside for the Red Cross.

1916 If you were a student in this year, you may have been
one of the kids like John Kennedy and Mrs. Vera Graham
Pinder who remember triumphantly marching from old
Duquesne School to the new Bryn Mawr School with their
books . . ... this was progress!! Some of the others who made
that short march and who are still living here were John
Homer, Mrs. Stauffer, and Andrew ‘“Toe Nails” Downey!
Some other students like Alice Bright Stott had been going to
Johnston School and now enrolled at Woodside Road.

1921-1922 ATLANTIC AVENUE SCHOOL was built and
ready for students about the same time we built our Municipal
Building—six rooms.

T

THE ATLANTIC AVENUE SCHOOL and addition of 1928.

THE HAWTHORNE SCHOOL
Showing part of the new 1952 addition.

1922 Four room HAWTHORNE SCHOOL was built.

1925 HAWTHORNE large portable room with stage and
kitchen, used mostly for community gatherings, was erected.

1926 Two portable rooms added to Atlantic Avenue
Building.

1928 ATLANTIC AVENUE ADDITION

Ten rooms and a combined gymnasium and auditorium
were added to Atlantic Avenue. The Atlantic Avenue building
was originally constructed to accommodate grades 1-6, but the
rapid growth of the community required a Junior High school,
hence, further expansion was necessary.

1929-1930 WOODSIDE ROAD SCHOOL added two room
addition and an auditorium.

1931 2nd temporary portable buildings were added to
Atlantic Avenue. Later this became our first Junior High
school.

1941 FOREST HILLS SCHOOL DISTRICT BECAME
THIRD CLASS SCHOOL BOARD REORGANIZED FROM a
5 toa 7 MEMBER BOARD

We had become of age and were legally qualified to move
from a 4th class district to 3rd class. Our population of 5,271
on July 1, 1941 made us eligible as a district with a population
over 5,000 to reorganize.



OUR SCHOOL ADMINISTRATION & FACULTY
1944

Left to right (top row) 1. Walter Kreiling, Secretary 2. Ray Watts 3. Mr.
Tenny 4. Edwin W. Painter 5. George Baumgarten 6. Frank Wentworth
7. HarryTravers 8. John Bier (2nd row from top) 1. Florence Blose 2.
Not identified 3. Mrs. Watts 4. Mrs. Tenny 5. Mrs. Painter 6. Mrs.
Baumgarten 7. Mrs. Frank Wentworth 8. Mrs. Travers 9. Mrs. Slonaker
10. Audrey Graham 11. Linnie Jones 12. Bill Cecil (Some unidentified)
(3rd row from top) Helen Yates, Lillian Rumbaugh, Lucille Stewart,
Vera Berger, Blanche Allshouse, Dotty Cramer, Arlene Foster Cook,
Lois Duer, Harriet Huss Flynn, Jean Young, Mary Miele, Hazel Gretzle,
Gladys Smith Metcalf (Some unidentified) (front row) Stella Nead,
Nelda Shaffer (next couple are not identified) Gene Mellott and Mrs.
Mellott, Laura Higby, Dr. Dale Roose and Mrs. Roose (not identified)
Dr. Ramaley (Ass’t Super. of County Schools), Dr. Houk, and Hilda By-
erly.

The top two rows in addition to others include School Directors and
their wives or husbands.

1946 THE BIG FIRE ($100,000) AT ATLANTIC AVENUE
JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL

Fire razed the Atlantic Avenue elementary and Junior High
school in 1946, where some 500 school children attended. The
loss was about $100,000 and 15 of the 21 rooms were
damaged in the two adjoining buildings.

Firemen, at first, were forced to stand idly by for about a
half an hour until sufficient water pressure was built up.
Finally, six fire companies came to the rescue.

The School Board met and arranged to house our students
in the Johnston School temporarily in Wilkinsburg. The third
floor with eight rooms was refurbished and rented to our
school board.

This fire sparked the immediate formation of the East
Boro's Fire Association and also started escalating the planning
for the new Junior High which was to be built at Central Site.



THE JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL 1949

1948 NEW JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL was built on the 19 acre
central site.

Architect: Charles J. Rieger . . . . Associate Architects:
Altenhof & Bown — Peter S. Thompson.

Financed by $400,000.00 bond issue and income from other
sources.

This was a real step in progress as the Atlantic Avenue
School had been serving under temporary portable and
crowded conditions and after the 1946 fire, the third floor of
Johnston School in Wilkinsburg (with eight rooms) found both
pupils and teachers working under a great handicap.

1949 On February 3, 1949 — First Kindergarten (at Schools
Woodside Road and Atlantic Ave.)

1952 All personnel of Forest Hills Schools took the state’s
“Loyalty Oath.”” — March 1952

KINDERGARTEN
Experiences in Kindergarten provide a natural transition from home to
school. ““Thisis MY house!”’

HAWTHORNE SCHOOL ADDITION
BOND ISSUE $200,000.00

1952 Lack of space at Hawthorne School caused grades to be
housed in the Junior High School, Woodside Road School, and
at the Atlantic Avenue School respectively over the years. This
commuting by the students and over-crowded conditions at
Hawthorne led to the bond issue being placed on the ballot in
1952.

FOREST HILLS BLOCK BUSTER
BALLOT vs. THE AUTHORITY

After the Bond Issue failed on the ballot, an Authority was
formed to sell bonds at the Hawthorne School addition. Many
people did not know that in January, 1952, the Local Building
Authority Act was passed by the State Legislature and signed
into law by Governor Fine. Apparently the citizenry was not
generally aware of the great need for expansion and the sorely
needed addition to the Hawthorne School. It was a resounding
defeat at the polls, but nearly all civic associations and service
clubs later endorsed the project in support of the School
Board.

Only months after the defeat at the polls, a twenty-year
Authority was created with the task of building and paying for
the school which would then be leased to the School District.
Singer, Dean and, Scribner took the Bond Issue. Suddenly the
Forest Hills School Board was doing its “‘own thing” and
created the School Authority with the following members:
Harold R. Kirk, E. Eibling, Malcolm Hickox, Winthrop M.
Leeds, and T. C. Weatherby.



ST. MAURICE SCHOOL DEDICATION
September 7th, 1953

1953 St. Maurice School opened with five grades, nine Mercy
sisters and one lay teacher. Sr. M. Norberta was principal.

1953 STUDENT-TEACHERS PROGRAM was started in
Forest Hills School District.

1955 WOODSIDE ROAD SCHOOL had another face-lifting
wherein the original wooden stair cases and floor were
replaced with concrete and steel covered by asphalt tile.
Basement toilets were replaced by rest rooms on each floor.

1955 SCHOOL BUS BILL (HB 445) passed the Senate on
November 30th — was introduced in the State Senate by our
own legislator John J. Murray and backed by the Legislative
Committee of Allegheny County Council of PTA whose
chairman was Dr. D. Paul Jones, Superintendent of Forest
Hills Schools.

1956 WAGE TAX (School District)

On August 1, 1956 the inevitable Wage Tax was levied by
the School Board. The estimated income from this tax was to
bring in $50,000. In turn the former $5 per capita tax was
eliminated. Earned Income Tax is another name for the same
bill, but there’s more to come!!

1956 FOREST HILLS SCHOOL BOARD purchased the
present high school property bound by Braddock Road and on
the Greensburg Pike for $168,000.00 in conjunction with the
Wilkins Township District and Chalfant Borough, who were to
collaborate towards the jointure and eventual Union officially
in the future.

The Joseph Horne property had been the former site of the
old Minnik Farms and consisted of a centrally located 46 acres,
ideal for the proposed high school. The Joseph Horne Co. had
been intending to construct a shopping center here but the
project was voted out by Churchill Borough. Our School Dis-
trict was the ultimate beneficiary.

1957 ST. MAURICE SCHOOL addition of eight rooms was
dedicated in September, 1957.

1960 THE SCHOOL JOINTURE was formalized with Wilkins
Township School District March 21st, 1960.

1962 THE CHURCHILL AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT
UNION was consummated with Wilkins-Churchill-Chalfant
Schools. Our own A/ Smith was elected first President of the
““Union” School Board.

Two separate school boards had been necessary under a
jointure, as well as separate budgets, and the movement to
change from jointure to union allowed for a single tax base
and united purchasing power.

1963 NEW SENIOR. HIGH SCHOOL of Churchill Area
School District (of which Forest Hills Schools are a part)
constructed at a cost of four million dollars! Pride of the
Areal!

1964 NURSERY SCHOOL was inaugurated for Forest Hills
pre-school children, commencing with age 4. In 1969 the
Nursery School completed its fifth successful year. This is a
non-profit organization sponsored by the Junior Department
of the Woman's Club of Forest Hills and is conducted in the
Forest Hills Presbyterian Church. The school is well equipped
and the teacher is Mrs. Blaine Leidy. Shall we call this
INFANT EDUCATION?

1965 FIRST CLASS of the Churchill Area School was
graduated in 1965. Governor William Scranton was the
speaker.

1965 JUNIOR HIGH SCHOOL ADDITION

A new $1,500,000 look for the Forest Hills Junior High
School addition opened space for 300 more students. The
front became the back and the back became the front. The
original junior high previously faced the Borough Park, but
now has a canopy entrance front on Ridge Avenue just off
Braddock Road, A new library was created from the former
cafeteria which was replaced with new kitchen and heating
facilities. The school gained twenty-five new instructional
areas including a gym, auditorium, large lab, and biology room
with attached greenhouse, also a two station economics room,
a band room and a material shop. It was erected in 1964 and
the capacity doubled.

CHURCHILL AREA SCHOOLS AUTHORITY for JUNIOR
HIGH ADDITION

Reuel B. Wolford — Chairman
Frank Kovalovsky
H. A. Harrisson
Warren Reding, Solicitor

H.S. Frus
John S. O'Brien

1966 BLOCK PARENT PROGRAM was initiated wherein
house posters are displayed to notify school children that
occupants are available for help in case of emergency.



1969 SCHOOL BOARD
CHURCHILL AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT

Seated—Mr. Eugene B. Connelly, Mr. Linford S. Macdonald, Dr.
Richard A. Moore, Mrs. Margaret Marti-Balaguer, standing—Mr. Thomas
A. Watkins, Mr. Stanley W. Addy, Dr. Walter N. Wilson, Dr. C. Paul
Clark, Mr. Albert J. Martin, Jr., Mr. J. Robert Maxwell; not pictured,
Theodore J. Zygmunt.

CHURCHILL AREA HIGH SCHOOL

Courtesy of Barringer Studios



FOREST HILLS SCHOOL BOARDS
1919 — 1967

From 1921 through 1935, Forest Hills elected only a small
number of individuals to serve on the Board of
Education . . . . thirteen individual board members which in-
dicated a state of confidence reposed by the citizens of Forest
Hills in that early School Board membership. There were four
women elected to the Board in our history. They were Mrs.
Henrietta Watts, Mr . Harry W. Tenney, Mrs. Ann Gagliardi,
and Joy V. Wolff.

Of the three living members from earlier history, Mr. Martin
C. Plack served the longest on the Board of Education. His
tenure was thirty years. Mr. George Baumgarten served
twenty-four years, and Mr. Frank Wentworth—twenty-two
years.

Mrs. Watts and Mr. Harry Travers, now deceased, each
served twenty-four years.

Mr. Wentworth, oldest living past Board member, remem-
bers when the first school picnic was held at Highland Park
and when the foresighted purchase of the Central Site was
once criticized by some residents.

Albert L. Harvey — December 1, 1919 to December 5, 1921 —
2 yrs.

T. S. Taylor — December 1, 1919 to December 5, 1921 — 2
yrs.

Robert France — December 1, 1919 to March 8, 1921 — 1%
yrs. v

H. F. Fleming — December 1, 1919 to December 9, 1919 — 8
das.

Oliver Sipe — December 1, 1919 to December 3, 1923 — 4 yrs.

James Beswick — December 9, 1919 to December 7, 1931 —

12 yrs.

Dr. John W. Funk — March 8, 1921 to December 4, 1933 — 12

yrs.

Raymohd Geisler — December 3, 1923 to December 2, 1929 —

6 yrs. .

Henry A. Travers — December 5, 1921 to date — 13% yrs.

Frank W. Wentworth — December 5, 1921 to date — 13% yrs.
*Douglas F. Miner — December 2, 1929 to date — 5% yrs.

E. W. Painter — December 7, 1931 to date — 3% yrs.

Joy B. Wolff — December 4, 1933 to date — 1% yrs.

Howard D. Ege — Elected November 11, 1935

*Retired December 2, 1935

Martin C. Plack, elected November 2, 1937

E. W. Painter, re-elected November 2, 1937

Henry A. Travers, re-elected November 7, 1939
Frank W. Wentworth, re-elected November 7, 1939
Howard D. Edg, resigned May 12, 1941

Mrs. T. R. Watts, appointed May 12, 1941

Mrs. T. R. Watts, elected May 29, 1941

Mrs. T. R. Watts, re-elected December 1, 1941

Mrs. H. W. Tenney, elected December 1, 1941
George W. Baumgarten, elected December 1, 1941
Martin C. Plack, re-elected 1943

E. W. Painter, re-elected 1943

T. R. Ringness, 1945

M. S. Hzncoco, 1945

Mrs. T. R. Watts, re-elected November 4, 1947
George w. Baumgarten, re-elected November 4, 1947
Mrs. Ann Gagliardi, re-elected November 4, 1947
Mr. H. Brunner, elected November 4, 1947

Mr. L. Bowker, elected November 4, 1947

T. R. Ringness, 1945

M. S. Hancock, 1945

Martin C. Plack, re-elected November 8, 1949
George Fossett, elected November 8, 1949

H. Brunner, re-elected November, 1951

L. Bowker, re-elected November, 1951

C. N. Brinsley, appointed to serve out term of E. Painter
H. Russell Keyser, appointed to fill term of George Fossett, 1952
George Baumgarten, re-elected November 3, 1953
Mrs. T. R. Watts, re-elected November 3, 1953

Mrs. E. Gagliardi, re-elected November 3, 1953

Mr. A. B. Smith, elected November 3, 1953

Mr. H. R. Keyser, re-elected November 3, 1953
Martin C. Plack, re-elected November 8, 1955

H. R. Keyser, re-elected November 8, 1955

Ralph Mclintosh, elected November 5, 1957

A. B. Smith, re-elected November 5, 1957

George Baumgarten, re-elected November 3, 1959
Mrs. T. R. Watt, re-elected November 3, 1959, Died 1965
Mr. Dale Liken, elected November 3, 1959

Martin C. Plack, re-elected November 7, 1961

Howard R. Keyser, re-elected November 7, 1961
Richard A. Moore, elected November 5, 1963

CHURCHILL AREA BOARD

Thomas A. Watkins, elected Nobember 2, 1965
Albert J. Martin, elected November 2, 1965
Stan W. Addy, elected November 7, 1967

Mr. Parks Toolin was not elected but served 2 appointments to
the Board.

ADMINISTRATION: PRINCIPALS AND

‘SUPERINTENDENTS

The first school Principal to come to Forest Hills was Professor
John Horner from Wilkinsburg.

Dr. Dale W. Houk came to Forest Hills as a Supervising
Principal in 1930 and served until 1939 when he was
appointed Assistant Superintendent of Allegheny County
(July 1, 1940). Dr. Houk later became President of Slippery
Rock State Teachers College and during his Presidency for ten
years the enrollment tripled and the faculty nearly doubled.
Dr. Houk resigned at Slippery Rock to be the Director of
Community and Public Relations at WQED in 1956 and
eventually went into foreign service.

Dr. D. Paul Jones became a faculty member of Forest Hills
Schools in 1931. In 1940 he was elected Supervising Principal,



was attached to United States Navy from 1943 to 1946. Dr.
Jones eventually went into Foreign Service.

Dale F. Roose came to the Forest Hills faculty in 1934,
became Building Principal and Junior High School Principal at
Atlantic Avenue School in 1942,

In 1959 Dale Roose was elevated to Supervising Principal and
in 1967 Assistant District Superintendent of the Churchill
Area School District under Dr. C. Paul Clark.

In 1968 Dale F. Roose died after a memorable and appreciated
career.

GROWING PAINS
EDUCATION

The School Board literally started from scratch to build up
a school system in the early years. There was a heavy bonded
‘indebtedness after constructing the Atlantic and Hawthorne
School and after buying the Central site. Another complicating

factor was the long-lasting Depression in ke 30’s. The Scheol
Roard never defaulted on their bond obligations nor did they
fail to pay teachers. However, there was one year or more
when the teachers salaries were only averaging a thousand
dollars, and the teachers doubled-up, working somewhat
short-staffed.

The depression seriously affected the normal financial
calculations of our school district through shrinking tax
collections and in some cases through decreased assessments.
During the 30’s, it became necessary on the part of many
school districts to provide against an increasing shrinkage in
tax collections by incurring temporary indebtedness. It was
significant to study this particular problem in Forest Hills,
especially in spite of the fact that this school district had to
provide for a rapidly increasing school population as well as
shrinking tax collections.

Our schools ran the gamut of the lean years of the
depression period, the hectic pressure years of World War I,
and the avalanche of increased enrollments over recent
decades.

ANNA KENNEDY (PLACK)

Report card of Anna Kennedy when she attended the old
Duquesne school in 1903. She was in third grade and the card
shows the signatures of her teacher, Stella Davis, and her
father, William Kennedy. Anna Kennedy today is Mrs. Martin
Plack who taught 17 years in the Monroeville schools, etc.

Whatever way you review this report card, the results and
grades are good enough for history’s exposure!!

Before retirement Mrs. Plack worked with retired teachers,
serving as President of the Gateway Union Group, the Western
Region of Pennsylvania and the Allegheny County Retired
Teachers Association.
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A Salute to Progress.
July 19, 1919—July 19, 1969

10 aprogressive

H0vear old

from a thriving
| year old

A happy, hearty golden jubilee to all our good
friends, neighbors and business associates of

the Forest Hills community. We are delighted

and proud to be a member of this enterprising team.
We have just joined the community this past year
and pledge ourselves to being a good neighbor
and hope to contribute to a bright future for

Forest Hills in the next fifty years.

Westinghouse Information Systems Laboratory

provides a direct customer-oriented computer

service for industry, government and the professions.

Our skills are built on technology and engineering know-how
amassed through Westinghouse computer experience over

a span of 20 years. WISL serves not only Westinghouse
divisions but a growing list of direct customers with time
sharing computer services, computer aided problem solving
and management information systems techniques and designs.

WWestinghouse

Information Systems Laboratory
2040 Ardmore Boulevard,
Forest Hills, Pennsylvania 15221




PETE KLIMENT'S

The oldest garage in Forest Hills
and probably the second oldest
business on Ardmore Boulevard,
Pete Kliment's garage was built
after the turn of the century and
the additions in the rear, added
later. This is a continuous family
business run by two sons today.

Mrs. Anna Kliment and some chil-
dren are shown with a new 1929
Hupmobile in that year!

De Nardo’s was 13 years old

when Forest Hills was founded

D. H. DeNARDO & CO.

The House of Flowers and Gifts Fine Jewelers Since 1906

808 CENTER STREET
WILKINSBURG, PA.
o
837 BRADDOCK AVENUE
EDGAR L. WAREHAM BRADDOCK, PA.

241-0385 Phone 351-2000




Your Partner
in

Ccommunity Progress

l?, THE PEOPLES NATURAL GAS COMPANY

PART OF THE CONSOLIDATED NATURAL GAS SYSTEM

J. P. TYKE GULF SERVICE

COMPLETE AUTOMOTIVE SERVICE

Alignment - Tune Up - Inspection

2531 GREENSBURG PIKE
CHURCHILL BORO, PA. 15221
Phone 241-9597
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